The Senate

Environment and Communications References Committee

Continuation of construction of the Perth Freight Link in the face of significant environmental breaches

Committee contact details

PO Box 6100 Parliament House Canberra ACT 2600

Tel: 02 6277 3526 *Fax*: 02 6277 5818

Email: ec.sen@aph.gov.au

Internet: www.aph.gov.au/senate_ec

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs 3.0 Australia License.



The details of this licence are available on the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/.

This document was printed by the Senate Printing Unit, Parliament House, Canberra

Committee membership

Committee members

Senator Peter Whish-Wilson, Chair	AG, TAS
Senator Linda Reynolds, Deputy Chair	LP, WA
Senator Anthony Chisholm	ALP, QLD
Senator Sam Dastyari	ALP, NSW
Senator Jonathon Duniam	LP, TAS
Senator Anne Urquhart	ALP, TAS

Substitute members for this inquiry

Senator Sue Lines (ALP, WA) for Senator Anne Urquhart from 16 February 2017 Senator Louise Pratt (ALP, WA) for Senator Anthony Chisholm from 16 February 2017

Participating member for this inquiry

Senator Chris Back	LP, WA
Senator Scott Ludlam	AG, WA

Committee secretariat

Ms Christine McDonald, Committee Secretary

Mr Colby Hannan, Principal Research Officer

Mr Nicholas Craft, Senior Research Officer

Ms Fattimah Imtoual, Senior Research Officer

Ms Kirsty Cattanach, Research Officer

Ms Michelle Macarthur-King, Administration Officer



Table of contents

Committee membership	iii
List of recommendations	vii
Chapter 1	1
Introduction	1
Background	1
Criticisms of the Freight Link	5
Environmental approval	7
Legal challenges to Roe 8 on environmental grounds	10
Order for the production of documents	11
Conduct of this inquiry	14
Structure of this report	15
Acknowledgements	15
Chapter 2	17
Issues raised	17
Introduction	17
Environmental and cultural significance	17
Environmental damage caused by Roe 8 works	18
Implementation of the Fauna Environment Management Plan	19
Implementation of the Construction Environmental Management Plan	29
Flaws with Management Plans for the project	33
Responses of the state and Commonwealth to potential breaches	34
Timing of commencement of construction	36
Committee view	37
Government senators – dissenting report	41
Labor senators' additional comments	47
Appendix 1	49
Submissions and additional information received by the committee	
Appendix 2 Public hearings	51



List of recommendations

Recommendation 1

2.93 The committee recommends that, pursuant to subsection 144(2A) of the *Environment Protection And Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999*, the Minister for the Environment suspends the Roe 8 construction works until he has ascertained that all the conditions of the approval issued for the Roe 8 works have been met by the Western Australian government and by relevant contractors.

Recommendation 2

2.94 The committee recommends that—whatever the outcome of the Western Australian state election taking place on 11 March 2017—the Commonwealth works with the state government and other stakeholders to develop productive and economically viable infrastructure projects in Western Australia that incorporate rigorous environmental assessments and conditions.

Recommendation 3

2.95 The committee recommends that the Commonwealth government act urgently to amend the EPBC Act to provide for emergency listings of threatened species and ecological communities, and to consider addressing the effect of section 158A of the EPBC Act which currently prevents consideration of threatened species or ecological communities which are listed after the time a referral is made.

Recommendation 4

- 2.96 The committee recommends that the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) conduct an audit of the Perth Freight Link project including in relation to:
- whether appropriate steps were taken to protect the Commonwealth's interests and obtain value for money in respect to the \$1.2 billion in Commonwealth funding committed to the Western Australian government for the Perth Freight Link project;
- the effectiveness of federal environmental protection laws, in particular the extent to which the Department of the Environment and Energy:
 - complied with its own policies (specifically including Offsets policy and protection of species with Recovery Plans),
 - adequately assessed impacts on matters of national significance during the assessment process,
 - adequately investigated and enforced compliance with approval conditions,

- adequately responded to evidence significant and systematic breaches with management plans were being ignored by the state government;
- the adequacy of penalties to the approval holder for non-compliance under federal environmental protection laws; and
- political interference with the environmental assessment and compliance process.

Chapter 1

Introduction

- 1.1 On 16 February 2017, the Senate agreed to the following motion referring the matters related to the Perth Freight Link to the Environment and Communications References Committee (the committee) for inquiry and report by 6 March 2017:
 - a. the Senate notes the failure to comply with the Senate orders for the production of documents agreed to on 13 and 14 February 2017, relating to the Perth Freight Link;
 - b. in order to investigate the subject of the Senate orders, the following matter be referred to the Environment and Communications References Committee for hearing on or before 24 February 2017, and reporting on or before 6 March 2017—The continuation of construction of the Perth Freight Link in the face of significant environmental breaches;
 - c. it be an instruction to the committee that it hold at least one hearing in Perth; and
 - d. the following witnesses be invited and answer questions:
 - i. Department of the Environment and Energy compliance and environmental standards officers,
 - ii. the Minister for the Environment and Energy, Mr Josh Frydenberg,
 - iii. Federal Legal Counsel to the Minister and the Department,
 - iv. the Western Australian Minister for Environment, Mr Albert Jacob, the Office of the Environmental Protection Authority, in particular, senior compliance managers Mr Ian Munro and Mr Paul Zahara,
 - v. the proponent, Main Roads Western Australia,
 - vi. Leightons contractors,
 - vii. subcontractors completing the surveying work, fencing and trapping,
 - viii. witnesses who have directly documented breaches with federal approval conditions, and reported these to the minister, and
 - ix. other witnesses as determined by the Environment and Communications References Committee.¹

Background

1.2 The Perth Freight Link is a \$1.9 billion project intended to improve freight infrastructure and traffic congestion in Perth, by providing a direct high-standard freight connection between the Roe Highway and Fremantle Port.² Its implementation has been designed in three stages:

¹ Journals of the Senate, 6 February 2017, p. 997.

Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Perth Freight Link* at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WA-PKG (accessed 21 February 2017).

- Section One—Roe Highway Extension (Roe 8): A 5.2 kilometre four lane dual carriageway from the Kwinana Freeway to Stock Road and an interchange connecting to Stock Road.
- Section Two—Winterfold Tunnel: a surface route along Stock Road between Roe 8 and Winterfold Road, then a 3.3 kilometre tunnel proceeding North-West to the Stirling Highway/High Street junction.
- Section Three—Roe Highway pinch point widening: Widening of a 1 kilometre section of the existing Roe Highway between the Tonkin Highway and Welshpool Road, to alleviate a pinch point on the heavy vehicle charging network.³
- 1.3 This inquiry is predominantly concerned with Section One Roe 8, see Figure 1.1 below for the route.

Figure 1.1: Route for the Roe 8 extension



Source: Main Roads WA, 'Roe 8 Highway Extension: Location' at https://project.mainroads.wa.gov.au/roe8/NewsInfo/Pages/location.aspx (accessed 27 February 2017)

Proposed benefits of the Freight Link

1.4 The Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development provided an overview of the proposed benefits of the project on its website:

The Perth Freight Link project will deliver significant travel time savings for freight and passenger vehicles across the Perth network. It will also

³ Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Perth Freight Link* at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WA-PKG (accessed 27 February 2017).

improve road safety, reduce transport costs and improve the efficiency of heavy vehicle movements between Perth's industrial areas and the Port of Fremantle. The project is also expected to reduce freight traffic and congestion on local arterial roads, resulting in improved safety, reduced noise and enhanced amenity. The project will also provide a more effective southern connection to the Murdoch Activity Centre, which, when fully developed has the potential to account for 35,000 jobs.

Further, the project will deliver environmental benefits through non-stop traffic movements, resulting in lower fuel use, less exhaust emissions and reduced noise levels.⁴

1.5 The Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development also provided a summary of how the Freight Link will complement other infrastructure projects in Western Australia:

The project will complement the Australian Government's investment in the Gateway WA and NorthLink WA projects. Together, these substantial network improvements will establish the Roe Highway as the preferred East-West route into the Port of Fremantle. The current Inner Harbour is operating well below capacity and as the Port grows to reach its anticipated capacity of 1.2 million containers per year over the next decade, this growth will significantly increase current freight volumes. The Perth Freight Link project will address these challenges and in the long term the Roe Highway Extension will service not only the Inner Harbour but also the Outer Harbour.⁵

Funding for the Freight Link

- 1.6 The Perth Freight Link was first announced by the Commonwealth Government on 19 May 2014, as part of the Infrastructure Growth Package contained in the 2014–15 Commonwealth Budget.⁶
- 1.7 This committed the Commonwealth Government to providing \$925 million in funding, with a further \$650 million contributed by the Western Australian Government.⁷ A further \$260.8 million was committed by the Commonwealth on

Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Perth Freight Link* at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WA-PKG (accessed 21 February 2017).

The Hon Malcolm Turnbull MP, Prime Minister, 'Perth Freight Link to improve road safety and ease port access', *Media Release*, 12 April 2016.

Note: both these commitments incorporated previously committed funds, namely: \$59 million earmarked for Leach Highway/High Street Fremantle upgrades in the 2013–14 Commonwealth Budget; and \$59 million committed by Western Australia to upgrades of High Street, Fremantle in the 2015-16 Budget. See 'Infrastructure Growth Package—addition to the Infrastructure Investment Programme for new investments' in *Commonwealth Budget 2014–15: Budget Paper No. 2: Expense Measures*, p. 175; and Government of Western Australia, *Budget 2015–16: Budget Paper No. 2 Budget Statements Volume 2*, p. 818.

Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, *Perth Freight Link* at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WA-PKG (accessed 21 February 2017).

- 12 April 2016 for tunnelling some of Section Two of the Perth Freight Link.⁸ This means the Commonwealth's contribution to the project is currently almost \$1.2 billion of the total funding of around \$1.9 billion.
- 1.8 The committee understands that recently released documents obtained under Commonwealth freedom of information (FOI) legislation indicate that the cost of the project could be much higher than forecast.⁹

The Freight Link Business Case and its assessment by Infrastructure Australia

- 1.9 To support the project, the Commonwealth and state governments developed a Business Case for the Freight Link, outlining its development, funding, implementation and proposed benefits. Although the full Business Case remains confidential, a 30-page executive summary of the Business Case was released in December 2014, omitting 'commercially sensitive material'. 10
- 1.10 The Executive Summary estimated total costs for all stages of the Freight Link would be \$1.575 billion (discounted to represent 2014 dollars), based on a P50 cost estimate (i.e., assuming a 50 per cent probability that the cost estimate would not be exceeded). 11
- 1.11 The Business Case noted that the project was 'economically viable' and projected it would deliver a benefit-cost ratio (BCR) of 2.8:1, with the major benefit stemming from 'a 9 ½ minute travel time saving and a \$8.15 saving per trip for freight vehicles (Kwinana Freeway to Fremantle)'. 12
- 1.12 The full Business Case was used by the board of Infrastructure Australia to assess the Freight Link proposal in May 2015. Although Infrastructure Australia recommended that the project was viable, it expressed some serious reservations about its estimated budget and BCR return. Most significantly, Infrastructure Australia estimated total capital for the project at \$1.742 billion (nominal, undiscounted and using a P90 estimate)—almost \$200 million more than the total capital forecast by the Business Case. 14

⁸ These documents are available for download at www.rethinkthelink.com.au/2017/02/17/perth-freight-link-foi-documents-released/ (accessed 2 March 2017).

⁹ See Andrew O'Connor, 'Perth Freight Link: FOI documents revealing cost blowout outdated, Government says', *ABC Online*, 23 December 2017 at www.abc.net.au/news/2017-02-23/main-roads-documents-reveal-cost-blowouts-for-roe-8/8297972 (accessed 27 February 2017).

¹⁰ Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary (December 2014).

¹¹ Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary (December 2014), pp. 27–28.

¹² Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary (December 2014), p. 3

¹³ Infrastructure Australia, 2014–2015 Assessment Brief: Perth Freight Link, p. 1.

¹⁴ Infrastructure Australia, 2014–2015 Assessment Brief: Perth Freight Link, p. 1.

- 1.13 Given this, Infrastructure Australia estimated the Freight Link would deliver a BCR return of 2.5:1, smaller than the Business Case's BCR of 2.8:1. 15
- 1.14 Infrastructure Australia also clearly stated some other assumptions that informed the Business Case estimates were founded on unrealistic expectations:

The costs estimated for this stated BCR exclude costs associated with the heavy vehicle tolling system thereby underestimating capital costs but included a CPI adjustment for the real capital cost estimates thereby overestimating capital costs. Including these offsetting cost impacts, consistent with Infrastructure Australia and National Transport Guidelines, this would result in the BCR remaining at 2.5:1. 16

1.15 Recently, FOI documents obtained by Ms Allanah McTiernan MP indicate that costs could be much higher, even than the capital costs estimated by Infrastructure Australia. Mrs Kim Dravnieks, Coordinator, Rethink the Link, gave the committee a summary of what these documents reveal about the Freight Link project:

Only now, just days before a state election, have we finally received documents to examine that were fought for through the Freedom of Information Commissioner and the arbitration tribunal. These documents show the extreme haste with which this project was put together and the disregard for due process. ¹⁷

Criticisms of the Freight Link

- 1.16 Since its announcement in the 2014–15 Budget, the Freight Link Proposal has accrued a great deal of criticism from many sectors, including local government and communities that will be affected by the project, as well as from the private business and transport industry that the Freight Link was designed to assist.
- 1.17 These concerns were summed up by the Senate inquiry undertaken by the Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee (RRAT committee) in the previous parliament. The inquiry tabled a report on 3 May 2016, which considered the many criticisms that have been levelled at the project.¹⁸
- 1.18 The RRAT committee's report was highly critical of the development and implementation of the Freight Link. It recommended that the Commonwealth's commitment to the Freight Link project should be frozen, as:

A P90 estimate assumes a 90 per cent probability that the project will be completed to its forecast budget—a more cautious estimate of capital costs that the P50 estimate used by the Business Case.

¹⁶ Infrastructure Australia, 2014–2015 Assessment Brief: Perth Freight Link, pp. 3–4.

¹⁷ Mrs Kim Dravnieks, Rethink the Link, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 3.

The inquiry webpage, including its report, the 228 submissions received and the transcripts of evidence from its two hearings can be accessed at:

http://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/Senate/Rural_and_Regional_Affairs_and_Transport/Perth_Freight_Link

This amount of funding [for the Freight Link] is a once-in-a-generation opportunity to invest in the infrastructure needs and long-term economic prosperity of Western Australia.

However, if the Perth Freight Link proceeds, it will blow this opportunity on a project that will not achieve what it proposes to do, and is not wanted—not only by the communities that it would run through but also by the business and transport sectors it purports to assist. ¹⁹

- 1.19 The RRAT committee considered that the Freight Link was 'poorly and hurriedly conceived by the Commonwealth' with 'no consultation with the government of Western Australia'. Moreover, it found that Infrastructure Australia's approval of the project was 'lukewarm at best', and noted the potential for the estimated cost of the project in the Business Case to blow out massively in the project's implementation. ²¹
- 1.20 In this, it suggested that the Business Case was 'fundamentally flawed', and that there was insufficient consultation and transparency in the project's development—including a failure to consider potential options for infrastructure to support Western Australia's freight capacity and transport network.²²
- 1.21 The report noted that the implementation of the Freight Link had already been subject to uncertainty and delay, due to court challenges to the Roe 8 stage on environmental and indigenous heritage grounds.²³
- 1.22 It was also clear to the RRAT committee that the development of the project had lacked a sufficient consultation process with the local governments, industry stakeholders and the communities who would be affected the most by its construction. In particular, the committee noted the strong community opposition to the project who had not been consulted sufficiently on several issues, including:
- the damage the Roe 8 extension would do to the natural environment of the Beeliar Wetlands;
- the uncertainty faced by families who lived along the Freight Link's proposed route, particularly those whose houses were being forcibly acquired by the state government; and
- negative effects due to increased traffic flows, air pollution, and potentially more dangerous roads in some areas. ²⁴

¹⁹ Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), p. 57.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), pp. 57–58.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), pp. 58–59.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), p. 58.

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), pp. 59–60.

Environmental approval

- 1.23 The *Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth) (EPBC Act) requires a person taking an 'action' that is likely to have a significant impact on a matter of national environmental significance to obtain approval from the Minister for the Environment and Energy.
- 1.24 The Roe 8 stage of the Perth Freight Link passes through the Beeliar Regional Park between the North Lake and Bibra Lake. These areas are considered high value environmental with potential impacts on listed threatened species and communities, and listed migratory species. It also encompasses Aboriginal heritage areas. As a consequence, the proponent (Main Roads Western Australia) referred the proposed action for approval on 22 June 2009.
- 1.25 Public comments on the referral were invited by the Department of the Environment and Energy (the department) with submitters providing comments on concerns about the impact on migratory birds and Carnaby's Black Cockatoo populations that are known to occur in that area, social impact on the community, Aboriginal and National Heritage and the Beeliar Wetland system.
- 1.26 It was decided that the proposed action was a controlled action and environmental assessment would be undertaken in accordance with the EPBC Act. Assessment was conducted under the bilateral agreement between the Commonwealth and Western Australia by the Western Australia Environmental Protection Authority (EPA).

Western Australia EPA approval process

1.27 In September 2013, following a Public Environmental Review, the EPA advised the department that it had published its Assessment Report which recommended that the proposed action be approved with conditions. On 2 July 2015, at the conclusion of the state appeals process, the Western Australian Minister for the Environment, the Hon Dean Nalder MLA approved the project.²⁷

Senate Rural and Regional Affairs and Transport References Committee, *Decision to commit funding to the Perth Freight Link project* (May 2016), p. 47.

²⁵ Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary (December 2014), p. 3.

Department of the Environment, Statement of reasons for a decision to approve an action under the Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth), p. 1.

^{27 &#}x27;Roe 8: Roe Highway extension gets environmental green light', *PerthNow*, 3 July 2015 at https://www.perthnow.com.au/news/western-australia/roe-8-roe-highway-extension-gets-environmental-green-light/news-story/6b410604c3c5bace3b568adc734f449f (accessed 27 February 2016); see also Department of the Environmental *Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cth)*, p. 2.

- 1.28 The approval conditions included the development of plans and surveys. These include details of conditions contractors must meet regarding the treatment of the flora and fauna or the Beeliar Wetlands, and stipulations on the monitoring of the ecological health of wetlands through the construction process.
- 1.29 They also include plans designed to mitigate the effects of construction on the site, including provisions to: prevent the introduction of weeds; minimise the impact of dust created by the works; prevent the introduction of any disease and pathogens—including dieback; and provide directions for the management of any potential contaminants, including acid sulphate soils and asbestos.
- 1.30 In announcing environmental approvals for Roe 8, the Western Australian Minister for the Environment highlighted a number of initiatives to mitigate the impacts of construction:
- provision of fauna underpasses to maintain fauna connectivity and develop plans to manage and monitor fauna and flora, wetland health and water drainage;
- purchase of 10 packages of land identified by the Department of Parks and Wildlife to satisfy all or part of the 523 hectares of native vegetation offset requirements for the project;
- provision of nesting hollows for birds and the trapping and tagging of more than 100 southern brown bandicoots living in the area and relocating them to the offset areas;
- building the road on land partly cleared for overhead power lines in order to minimise the environmental footprint;
- undertaking a wetland restoration program at North Lake and Horse Paddock Swamp;
- building two bridges through the wetlands—a 120 metre long bridge over Roe Swamp and a 70 metre bridge over Horse Paddock Swamp;
- employing a top-down construction approach at Roe Swamp Bridge to minimise clearing footprint and compaction during construction; and
- ensuring wetlands bridges are used in required locations to maintain ecological connections for local fauna.²⁹
- 1.31 The plans, and potential contraventions of their conditions, are discussed further in the following chapter of this report.

-

These plans are all available at Main Roads WA, 'Management Plans' at https://project.mainroads.wa.gov.au/roe8/environment/Pages/managementplans.aspx (accessed 28 February 2017).

The Hon Dean Nalder MLA, Western Australian Minister for Transport, 'Environmental approval for Roe 8', *Media Release*, 22 October 2015.

Commonwealth approval process

- 1.32 The Commonwealth approval process was completed on 21 October 2015 with approval being given, under section 133 of the EPBC Act, to construct the highway. The approval of the proposed action was made with 16 conditions. The conditions included:
- adherence to clearance limits outlined in the WA approval conditions in order to minimise impacts to threatened species and communities and migratory species;
- to avoid and mitigate impacts to black cockatoos, during the breeding season (August–December), within 7 days prior to clearing, the approval holder must ensure all potential nesting trees are investigated to detect the presence of black cockatoos using hollows with the investigation being undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced person. Should any black cockatoos be detected using a hollow in a tree or trees, the approval holder must:
 - clearly identify all such trees with fencing and signage that must be located within two (2) metres of the base of each such tree;
 - not clear any such tree or any vegetation within 10 metres of any such tree; and
 - undertake all reasonable measures to avoid any such tree from being cut down, felled, removed, killed, destroyed, poisoned, ring-barked, uprooted or burned until a suitably qualified and experienced person has verified in writing that the hollow(s) in each such tree are no longer being used by black cockatoos.
- in order to minimise impacts to threatened species and communities, and migratory species, the approval holder must develop and implement all Plans or Surveys, in accordance with the requirements of the WA approval conditions;
- to offset the loss of black cockatoo habitat, prior to commencement, the approval holder must provide the department with written evidence that funds have been provided to the Department of Parks and Wildlife for the acquisition of an environmental offset property;
- within three months of every 12 month anniversary of the commencement of the action, the approval holder must publish a report on their website addressing compliance with each of the conditions of this approval, including implementation of any Plans or Surveys as specified in the conditions. Documentary evidence providing proof of the date of publication and noncompliance with any of the conditions of this approval must be provided to the Department at the same time as the compliance report is published;
- upon the direction of the Minister, the approval holder must ensure that an independent audit of compliance with the conditions of approval is conducted and a report submitted to the Minister. The independent auditor must be approved by the Minister prior to the commencement of the audit. Audit

criteria must be agreed to by the Minister and the audit report must address the criteria to the satisfaction of the Minister.

- the approval holder must maintain accurate records substantiating all activities associated with or relevant to the conditions of approval, including measures taken to implement the Plans or Surveys required by this approval, and make them available upon request to the Department. Such records may be subject to audit by the Department or an independent auditor in accordance with section 458 of the EPBC Act, or used to verify compliance with the conditions of approval. Summaries of audits will be posted on the Department's website. The results of audits may also be publicised through the general media; and
- unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Minister, the approval holder must publish all Plans or Surveys referred to in these conditions of approval on their website. Each management plan must be published on the website within 1 month of being approved.³⁰

Legal challenges to Roe 8 on environmental grounds

Environmental challenges to Roe 8

1.33 A challenge to the EPA's approval of the highway extension was lodged in the Western Australian Supreme Court by the Save Beeliar Wetland Group. Supreme Court Chief Justice Wayne Martin found that the EPA's assessment and subsequent recommendation to the WA government was invalid. Professor John Bailey commented that:

...the EPA was found to have taken no account of its own published policies at the time, and specifically the policy that said that for significant residual impacts to critical environmental assets, such as those impacted by Roe 8, environmental offsets would not be an appropriate means of rendering the proposal environmentally acceptable.³¹

- 1.34 However, the Western Australian Government won an appeal with a unanimous decision from the Court of Appeal which found that the EPA was not obliged to take its own policies into account. The court found that policies were a permissive relevant consideration, not a mandatory relevant consideration.
- 1.35 On 16 December 2016, the High Court found that that there was 'insufficient grounds' for Save Beeliar Wetlands to appeal the Court of Appeals decision.³²
- 1.36 Prior to the finding of the High Court on 16 December, the Western Australian government erected temporary fencing on the site on 4 December 2016, in preparation for clearing work to begin.³³

32 'Roe 8: Aboriginal heritage appeal drawn up against Perth Freight Link extension', *ABC Online*, 22 January 2016 available at www.abc.net.au/news/2016-01-22/roe-8-perth-freight-linkaboriginal-heritage-appeal/7108804 (accessed 27 February 2017).

³⁰ Department of the Environment, Approval, Roe Highway Extension, EPBC 2009/5031.

³¹ Professor John Bailey, The Beeliar Group, *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 41.

Indigenous heritage challenges to Roe 8

1.37 A challenge to Roe 8 was lodged in the Supreme Court of Western Australia, arguing that the Beeliar Wetlands was a site of Indigenous spiritual significance. This case was dismissed on 24 August 2016.³⁵

Order for the production of documents

1.38 On 13 and 14 February 2017, the Senate agreed to orders for the production of documents related to the Perth Freight Link. The first order of 13 February 2017 related to the production of the business case and cost benefit analysis for the Perth Freight Link:

That the Senate—

- (a) notes:
 - (i) the Abbott-Turnbull election commitment that infrastructure projects attracting more than \$100 million of federal funding would require a full cost benefit analysis,
- (ii) that the Abbott-Turnbull Government has committed funding now worth \$1.2 billion to the Perth Freight Link for which no business case has ever been provided, for which Stages 2 and 3 have not even been planned or assessed, and which does not reach the Port,
 - (iii) that it is important that Federal money granted to a state be spent in a manner that represents value for money and that the Senate has an oversight obligation in this regard, and
 - (iv) public interest immunity in response to Senate orders for the production of documents must not just be asserted, rather established;
- (b) rejects the grounds for public interest immunity made in relation to six previous Senate orders for production of documents, concerning the release of the business case, and specifically those made by the Minister for Finance on 19 April and 1 September 2016;
- (c) orders that the full business case and cost benefit analysis for the Perth Freight Link be laid on the table by the Minister for Finance by no later than 12.30 pm on 14 February 2017; and
- (d) resolves that, if the documents specified in paragraph (c) are not laid on the table by 12:30 pm on 14 February 2017, the Minister for Finance be required to attend the Senate at that time and provide an explanation for his
- Main Roads WA, 'Roe 8 site activity' at https://project.mainroads.wa.gov.au/perthfreightlink/newsinfo/Pages/default.aspx (accessed 27 February 2017)
- 'Roe 8: Aboriginal heritage appeal drawn up against Perth Freight Link extension' *ABC Online*, 22 January 2016 available at www.abc.net.au/news/2016-01-22/roe-8-perth-freight-linkaboriginal-heritage-appeal/7108804 (accessed 27 February 2017).
- Irena Ceranic, 'Perth Freight Link: Roe 8 Aboriginal heritage appeal thrown out', *ABC Online*, 24 August 2016 at http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-08-24/roe-8-perth-freight-link-aboriginal-heritage-appeal-thrown-out/7780698 (accessed 27 February 2017).

failure to table the documents, and that at the conclusion of the explanation any senator may move to take note of the explanation. ³⁶

1.39 Later that day, the Senate agreed to a further order for production of documents related to investigation of nesting trees:

That the Senate—

- (a) notes Condition 4 of the federal approval decision for the Roe Highway Extension, which specifies that all potential nesting trees are to be investigated to detect the presence of black cockatoos using hollows within 7 days prior to clearing, and that the investigation must be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced person; and
- (b) orders that there be laid on the table by the Minister representing the Minister for the Environment and Energy, by 5 pm on 13 February 2017, the following information:
 - (i) the date the investigation of nesting trees was completed,
 - (ii) how the investigation was undertaken,
 - (iii) the qualifications of the person/s who undertook the investigation, and
 - (iv) a copy of the investigation, including all results. 37
- 1.40 In response to the first order of 13 February 2017, the Minister for Finance, Senator the Hon Mathias Cormann, noted that the Senate had on five previous occasions passed orders for the production of documents related to the Perth Freight Link business case and the cost-benefit analysis. The Minister stated:

In response to those orders the government has provided all the information and all the documents that it could provide without harm to the public interest. The information and documents not provided in response to all these Senate orders in relation to the Perth Freight Link documents were either cabinet-in-confidence documents for the WA state government or contained information that is commercial and sensitive in nature. If they were released in a full and unredacted form they would prejudice commercial negotiations and/or would potentially damage the relations between the Commonwealth and a state government, namely the Western Australian state government, namely the Western Australian state government.³⁸

1.41 The Assistant Minister to the Prime Minister, Senator the Hon James McGrath, also tabled documents previously tabled concerning related orders for the production of documents.³⁹

³⁶ *Journals of the Senate No.* 27, 13 February 2017, pp. 917–18.

³⁷ Journals of the Senate No. 27, 13 February 2017, p. 920.

³⁸ Senate Hansard, 14 February 2017, pp. 1–2.

³⁹ Journals of the Senate No. 27, 13 February 2017, p. 918.

1.42 In response to the second order for the production of documents, the Special Minister of State, Senator the Hon Scott Ryan, tabled a letter to the President of the Senate from the Minister for Education and Training, dated 13 February 2017, responding to the order for the production of documents. 40 The letter stated that:

The Department of the Environment and Energy has been informed by the Office of the Environmental Protection Authority of Western Australia that:

- The Office of the Environmental Protection Authority has had auditors on site for each day of the works.
- All potential nesting trees in the area to be cleared were investigated on 14 December 2016, prior to the commencement of clearing work on 19 December 2016.
- The Office of the Environmental Protection Authority is collating detailed information regarding the potential nesting habitat, including the dates on which investigations occurred, the person who undertook these investigations and the outcomes of their investigations. This task is expected to be completed by Friday, 17 February 2017.

The Department of the Environment and Energy has also been informed by the Main Roads Western Australia that although no Cockatoo nests were observed to be present in any of the trees to be cleared, as a precautionary measure, trees that were identified with hollows were retained in situ for the remainder of the breeding season.

The Department of the Environment and Energy has requested the abovementioned information from the Office of the Environmental Protection Authority and will respond further to the Senate's Order on the next sitting day of the Senate after the information is received.

1.43 On 14 February 2017, the Senate agreed to the following order for the production of documents:

That the Senate—

- (a) notes, in relation to the Perth Freight Link 'Roe 8' Highway extension, that significant breaches have been documented and reported to the Minister in relation to approval conditions and management plans, relating to dust suppression, asbestos management, and trapping and relocation of endangered species; [and]
- (b) orders that there be laid on the table by the Minister representing the Minister for the Environment and Energy, by no later than 12.45 pm on 15 February 2017, the following documents:
 - (i) a summary of correspondence or reports made to the Minister for the Environment and Energy or the Department of the Environment and Energy with evidence of compliance breaches with approval

conditions since construction commenced, and the response to each, and

- (ii) a record of the dates, times and locations where state or federal compliance officers have been on site since construction began.⁴¹
- 1.44 On 15 February 2017, the Minister for Finance, Senator the Hon Mathias Cormann, tabled a letter to the President of the Senate from the Minister for Education and Training responding to the order of the Senate of 14 February 2017. The Minister's letter provided the following information:

The Department of Environment and Energy has advised that neither the Minister nor the Department has received correspondence or reports with evidence of compliance breaches with approval conditions.

The Department of Environment and Energy has also confirmed that state or federal compliance auditors have been on site on each day of works since construction began. 43

Conduct of this inquiry

- 1.45 The committee received five submissions. These submissions are listed at appendix 1 of this report, and can be accessed through the committee's website.⁴⁴
- 1.46 The committee held a public hearing in Perth on 23 February 2017. A list of witnesses who gave evidence at this hearing can be found at Appendix 2 of this report, and a Hansard transcript of evidence is available on the committee website.

Participation of the Western Australian government and contractors

- 1.47 The terms of reference for this inquiry stipulated that the committee invite the Western Australian government Minister for the Environment, some senior officers from the state's EPA and the agency Main Roads Western Australia.⁴⁵
- 1.48 Moreover, the terms of reference also stated that certain contractors undertaking work on the Roe 8 extension would be called to give evidence at the public hearing, namely Leightons, and any subcontractors responsible for surveying, fencing and trapping work.
- 1.49 The committee notes that both the Western Australian government and relevant contractors declined the committee's invitation to attend the hearing and give evidence.

⁴¹ Journals of the Senate, 14 February 2017, p. 948.

⁴² *Journals of the Senate*, 15 February 2017, p. 979.

Letter from Senator the Hon Simon Birmingham, Minister for Education and Training, to the President of the Senate, dated 15 February 2017.

The committee's webpage can be found at www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/ Committees/Senate/Environment_and_Communications

⁴⁵ Senate Hansard, 16 February 2017, p. 22.

- 1.50 The committee understands that the Western Australian government entered a caretaker period in early February 2017 for the state general election on 11 March 2017. However, the committee also notes that the Western Australian government has consistently displayed an unwillingness to be transparent about the Freight Link, including repeatedly refusing to participate in the RRAT committee inquiry into the project in the 44th Parliament.
- 1.51 Given this, the committee would like to express its disappointment that the Western Australian government and relevant contractors have not assisted the work of this inquiry.

Structure of this report

- 1.52 This report consists of two chapters:
- this chapter sets out the administrative details of the inquiry, and gives a brief background of the Perth Freight Link project; and
- the second chapter outlines the issues raised by submissions and witnesses, as well as the committee's views and recommendations.

Acknowledgements

1.53 The committee thanks all individuals and organisations that participated in the inquiry by making submissions and giving evidence at the public hearing.

Chapter 2

Issues raised

Introduction

- 2.1 Witnesses and submitters raised a range of environmental issues in relation to the Roe 8 project and the perceived failure of regulators to address concerns. This chapter discusses the following issues:
- the environmental significance of the area of the Roe 8 stage of the Freight Link:
- the environmental damage the implementation of the Roe 8 stage of the Freight Link has already caused;
- potential non-compliance of contractors with the project's *Fauna Environment Management Plan* (FEMP), including poor trapping standards for southern brown bandicoots, deficiencies in the reptile and turtle removal programs, the lack of adequate fencing to protect fauna in areas being cleared, and an insufficiently rigorous survey of black cockatoo and other bird nesting sites before construction began;
- alleged non-compliance of contractors to the binding conditions of the *Construction Environmental Management Plan* (CEMP), on dieback and plant disease, asbestos waste disposal and the management of dust; and
- the inadequate response of the state and Commonwealth governments to concerns raised about potential violations of the project's management plans.

Environmental and cultural significance

2.2 As noted in chapter 1, the area of development has high environmental value as well as encompassing Aboriginal heritage areas. Professor Richard Hobbs, a member of the Beeliar Group, provided the committee with an overview of the environmental importance of the Beeliar Wetlands:

The southwest [part of Western Australia] is one of the declared biodiversity hotspots of the world, so that means that it has a huge diversity of species—flora and fauna—many of which are found nowhere else in the world. The Beeliar Wetlands is one of the jewels in that crown, if you like, and it is very special not just because of its biological status but because of its location in the middle of a city. The biological value is huge, but the social value is huge as well. People love that area. People use it for recreation—and they appreciate the birds, the animals and so on. That is why you get such an emotive response from people when it is being destroyed. I

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, pp. 46–47.

2.3 The committee also received evidence about the importance of the area for the southern brown bandicoot, the Carnaby's black cockatoo, the forest red-tailed black-cockatoo, glossy-leafed hammer orchid, grand spider orchid and beaked lepidosperma as well as some migratory birds.²

Environmental damage caused by Roe 8 works

2.4 The committee heard evidence that the works undertaken for the Roe 8 extension have already caused serious environmental damage to the Beeliar Wetlands. Ms Katharine Kelly, Convenor, Save Beeliar Wetlands, provided the committee with an overview of the destruction that has occurred on the construction site since works began in late December 2016:

The following Monday [after the High Court revalidation of the Roe 8 environmental approvals], the bulldozers moved into the Coolbellup and destroyed five woodlands about hectares over 20 December 2016. We watched in horror as the beautiful orchids, banksias, bandicoots, little skinks, tall jarrah trees, little sedges, bushes and grass trees alike were violently pushed together and then piled up for mulching. There was no translocation of any trees. Many of us saw bandicoots running and birds fleeing trees as they were toppled. We knew there was lots of dumped asbestos in the area and, because of the lack of water trucks and lack of any wetting down, huge plumes of dangerous dust rose in the air and drifted over homes. That night and even whilst we washed the dust and tears and anger off our bodies and clothes, many of us were wondering how the construction contractors could be getting away with such blatant shows of noncompliance. At this stage the environmental management plans had been published for a scant two weeks.³

2.5 Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, commented on the damage that has been done to date is 'vandalism'. He noted the concerns with the destruction of ancient trees:

...we have seen 300- to 500-year-old trees bulldozed down and mulched up and wood chipped up. There are also the two Norfolk Island pine trees that were planted by John Dixon and his wife on the occasion of their wedding in 1900. Those Norfolk pine trees, which were planted in 1900, have been cut down to a height of, probably, five metres each and been left there almost as a signal to the community that this project will proceed at any cost. The Dixon family and the community are devastated in the context of that arrogance, as I would term it. It is total arrogance.

3 Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 4.

² Mr Matt Cahill, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 23.

⁴ Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 16.

2.6 While much damage has been done to the wetlands after only a few months of work, significant areas of bushland have not yet been cleared. Miss Phoebe Corke, a member of Wetland Watchers, commented:

Two of the most beautiful parts of the project are still standing. At the other end of the project, there is some beautiful bushland still there so it is not over yet in terms of the destruction. As to what has been destroyed, it is basically a 25 to 30 metre strip that runs at the moment for $4\frac{1}{2}$ kilometres. There are crushed limestone paths being put into a great deal of this and they are about four to five metres wide, and that is where we are at the moment.⁵

Implementation of the Fauna Environment Management Plan

- 2.7 Professor Hobbs commented that the implementation of the FEMP has been flawed in several ways. The committee also received evidence that there may have been violations of the legally binding terms of the FEMP, as well as the conditions of approval under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (the EPBC Act), including by:
- contraventions of trapping practices, particularly for bandicoots;
- poorly designed and implemented programs for turtle trapping;
- insufficient provision of fencing and netting to protect fauna from injury or mortality while bushland is cleared; and
- potentially inadequate surveys of local bird populations before clearing began—particularly nesting sites of threatened species of black cockatoo.

Trapping of southern brown bandicoots

2.8 Ms Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, made it clear to the committee that the southern brown bandicoots are protected under the EPBC Act, and that they played a central part in the health of the local ecosystem:

The southern brown bandicoots are a priority species under the EPBC Act. This urban woodland and wetland system is one of the last remaining fragments of urban bushland and wetlands on the Swan coastal plain. It contains nature woodlands, which the bandicoots particularly love. There is an incredible relationship between the health of the system and the bandicoots being there. They are like constant little gardeners. They actually move about three tonnes of soil each a year. So they aerate the soil and make the trees able to have a micro-algal function. The micro-algal function is the way in which the trees communicate with one another and

⁵ Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 12.

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 41. All Management Plans for the project can be found on Main Roads WA's website at https://project.mainroads.wa.gov.au/roe8/environment/Pages/managementplans.aspx (accessed 28 February 2017).

ensures that the health of the whole ecosystem is kept intact. They are actually essential for the health of the urban woodland and wetland system.⁷

- 2.9 The FEMP stipulates a number of conditions for the trapping of southern brown bandicoots before clearing can begin, including that:
- 3–4 days of trapping must take place before clearing, and that this must continue until traps are clear of bandicoots for 2 consecutive trapping nights;⁸
- should bandicoots still be found in traps for 2 consecutive after a 3–4 day trapping program is completed, a fauna expert must be consulted, and their recommendations must be implemented until the number of bandicoots trapped significantly reduces;⁹
- traps will be closed in hot weather (i.e. above 30 degrees and/or for consecutive days), and reopened in the late afternoon to avoid bandicoot mortality; 10 and
- traps will be closed in periods of heavy rain, and reopened in the late afternoon to avoid drowning of trapped animals due to flooding.¹¹
- 2.10 Some witnesses gave evidence suggesting that trapping undertaken by contractors to prepare areas for clearance had not adhered to stipulations of the FEMP. ¹² For example, Ms Corke, Wetlands Watchers, gave several examples that had been documented by the group:

On three occasions we have seen bandicoots removed the morning before they cleared an area. We have also been told that the area is scheduled for clearing the next day, which we find extremely bizarre because how can you schedule something before you know what the result of the previous night's trapping will be? Also, on two occasions on the same day, we saw bandicoots being removed from an area which they started clearing that afternoon, and right at the beginning, on the second day of clearing in January, we saw bandicoots being removed 90 minutes before they cleared an area. ¹³

2.11 Ms Corke provided the committee with photos documenting poor trapping practices taken by members of Wetlands Watchers, as well as an Excel spreadsheet documenting these incidents. These included documentation of traps set in poor

Ms Katharine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, pp. 10–11. Note: some witnesses referred to bandicoots as quenda, a term derived from the Noongar language.

⁸ Fauna Environment Management Plan, p. 17.

⁹ Fauna Environment Management Plan, p. 17 and Table 7 'Contingency Actions' at p. 30.

¹⁰ Fauna Environment Management Plan, p. 18.

¹¹ Fauna Environment Management Plan, p. 18.

See Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, p. 6; Ms Katharine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, p. 11.

¹³ Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 6.

locations (too close to roads or perimeter fences and in noisy or well-lit locations), and traps set too close together or with insufficient covers (both for camouflage and trapped animal protection against the elements). ¹⁴ It also appears that some bandicoots have been placed on the ground while in bags, or that these bags have been stacked on top of each other and left in the sun.

2.12 In addition, Ms Corke suggested some areas being cleared obviously had a number of bandicoots who had not been removed from the site. She stated that:

There have been bandicoots run over on road. We have seen bandicoots running from an area that is currently being cleared and others died on the nets which have been very inefficiently put in and they have not been able to leave the area and died of lack of water or panic.¹⁵

2.13 Dr Felicity Bairstow, a retired veterinarian appearing in a private capacity, suggested that traps had not been closed on hot days, and:

...on a 36 degree day, I became distressed enough—from a professional perspective—at the thought of animals being out there in traps that I called to made a report to the RSPCA. ¹⁶

2.14 Dr Bairstow also raised more general concerns about the trapping program, particularly potential difficulties faced by bandicoots relocated to other areas:

I...spoke to the chief wildlife officer of [the Department of Parks and Wildlife WA] with regard to the translocation of the southern brown bandicoots and the futility of transplanting them to adjacent areas. The southern brown bandicoots are very territorial. If you put bandicoots into an area where there are already bandicoots, which there will be if it is a good habitat for bandicoots, they will get beaten up, kicked out onto the road and run over—and that is what happened. The reply from the chief wildlife officer was that it was not his department. We have heard that an awful lot in the last few months. ¹⁷

Trapping of reptiles and turtles

- 2.15 The committee also received some evidence that reptile and turtle trapping programs had not been designed or implemented effectively.
- 2.16 Professor Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, commented that, whereas he considered the plan was reasonable regarding some species, it had omitted appropriate provisions to deal with reptiles and turtles on the site:

These animals are largely cryptic and very hard to track effectively, so the length of time given to that trapping is probably insufficient to ensure that

¹⁴ Miss Phoebe Corke, Additional Information No. 10 and No. 11.

¹⁵ Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 6.

Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

¹⁷ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

you are getting the animals that you want. In addition to that, the [original] plan did not cover turtles, which were discovered as the project began...¹⁸

2.17 Ms Corke, Wetlands Watchers, also provided the committee with her letter to the Western Australian Environmental Protection Authority. This letter noted the CEMP's deficiencies for turtle trapping:

Turtle trapping at this time of year is also extremely ineffectual as in the warm months Oblong Turtles bury themselves in the mud, where they remain. According to a turtle expert trapping should be for a minimum of two to three weeks and should take place in the autumn and winter, not in the summer. The turtle traps in Stage 5 were set for only two nights and were set too high in the water for effective trapping even in the correct season. ¹⁹

2.18 Reptiles may also have been handled inappropriately; poor handling of reptiles increases levels of stress while they are being captured for relocation.

Fencing and netting to protect fauna

- 2.19 Some witnesses argued that contractors had not provided sufficient fencing and netting to protect fauna in areas that were being cleared. The FEMP provides that contractors must 'Install fauna fencing to exclude terrestrial vertebrate fauna from the construction footprint and the operational highway', that will:
- comprise of a mesh fence to a height of no less than 1.2 m and be dug into the ground to a depth of no less than 350 mm;
- include temporary fauna fencing during construction, but will conform to the standards required for permanent fencing;
- be designed to exclude the Southern Brown Bandicoot within the development envelope; and
- include escape gates to allow fauna trapped in the road reserve an exit route. ²¹
- 2.20 Professor Hobbs commented that there had been many instances of this fencing being non-compliant with FEMP conditions:

Another obvious and persistent breach relates to the failure to correctly install fauna-proof mesh on the fences surrounding the areas. This failure

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 46.

¹⁹ Miss Phoebe Corke, Additional Information No. 10, p. 29.

See Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 6; Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 46.

²¹ Fauna Environment Management Plan, Table 7, p. 28

actually makes it impossible to categorically state that areas being cleared are free of bandicoots. ²²

- 2.21 Ms Corke also provided evidence from Wetlands Watchers documenting several occasions when protective netting had not been dug into the ground, was missing from fences, or was clearly inadequate to keep animals out of areas being cleared.²³
- 2.22 Professor Hobbs conceded that many of the fauna experts onsite were doing the best job they could, but they were constrained by the protocols of the FEMP:

...I think the fauna specialists have had a tough job to do here, and at least some of them are doing the best job they can. But, having said that, there are many parts of the implementation—and you have heard about them during the day already, with the problems with the trapping and so on. The one I highlighted was the problem of not having mesh fencing put into the barrier fences. To me, that makes it very difficult to see how the trapping protocols can be called effective, because there is no way that you can keep bandicoots out, and so as soon as they are trapped, some are likely to move in.²⁴

Surveys of local bird populations, particularly black cockatoos

- 2.23 Some submissions and witnesses questioned the adequacy of bird detection and removal programs undertaken for the Roe 8 construction works, particularly surveys of potential nesting sites for the threatened Carnaby's black cockatoo and the vulnerable red-tailed black cockatoo.²⁵
- 2.24 Dr Hugh Finn, appearing in a private capacity, provided the committee with expert evidence based on his extensive field research into black cockatoos, and questioned whether there had been an adequate survey of potential nesting sites. In particular, he highlighted Condition 4 of the Commonwealth approval conditions for Roe 8, which states:

To avoid and mitigate impacts to black cockatoos, during the breeding season (August—December), within 7 days prior to clearing, the approval holder must ensure all potential nesting trees are investigated to detect the presence of black cockatoos using hollows. The investigation must be undertaken by a suitably qualified and experienced person.

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 46.

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017,
 p. 42; see also Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*,
 23 February 2017, p. 15.

²³ Miss Phoebe Corke, Additional Information No. 10 and No. 11.

Ms Katharine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 11; Dr Hugh Finn, Private capacity, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, pp. 42–43.

If any black cockatoos are detected using a hollow in a tree or trees, the approval holder must:

- 1. clearly identify all such trees with fencing and signage that must be located within two (2) metres of the base of each such tree;
- 2. not clear any such tree or any vegetation within 10 metres of any such tree; and
- 3. undertake all reasonable measures to avoid any such tree from being cut down, felled, removed, killed, destroyed, poisoned, ring-barked, uprooted or burned until a suitably qualified and experienced person has verified in writing that the hollow(s) in each such tree are no longer being used by black cockatoos.²⁶
- 2.25 The committee notes the federal approval specifically defines potential nesting trees as:

Means those 38 trees specified in the list held by the Department and provided confidentially to the Approval holder.²⁷

- 2.26 Dr Finn expressed doubts whether adequate surveys meeting these conditions could have been undertaken in a single day, given the need to check every hollow big enough for nesting by using cherry pickers, drones, arborists climbing trees, or some kind of long-term behavioural observation undertaken by bird population experts.²⁸
- 2.27 This view was supported by the evidence given by Ms Corke, Wetlands Watchers. She noted that her organisation was onsite on the day when the cockatoo nesting site survey was completed, and had not noticed any teams moving through the area, or any equipment like cherry pickers or drones being used to inspect trees.²⁹
- 2.28 The Department of the Environment and Energy (the department) told the committee that surveys of black cockatoo nesting sites were undertaken on 14 December 2016, within the stipulated 7 days of work being commenced on 19 December 2016. The department went on to note that:

We did look further to satisfy ourselves that the condition had been met. We understand that ACON was engaged to do those. It does not specifically say surveys, it says an investigation of the tree hollows. ACON went on-site to investigate those hollows. They found, I think, 26 trees that had hollows in them. Of the 26 they said 24 of those hollows were not suitable habitat for the black cockatoos and two may or may not have been. What they have done is taken a precautionary approach and not felled any of the trees with

²⁶ Dr Hugh Finn, Submission 4, pp. 2–3.

²⁷ Department of the Environment, *Approval, Roe Highway Extension*, EPBC 2009/5031, p. 5.

²⁸ Dr Hugh Finn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, pp. 42–43.

²⁹ Ms Phoebe Corke, Wetlands Watchers *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 5.

hollows during the breeding period. My understanding is that 24 of the 26 trees still remain standing on the site. ³⁰

2.29 Concern over the checking of local bird populations prior to works beginning were not limited to cockatoos. Ms Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, told the committee:

I am not convinced that all those trees were properly checked for chicks. We know, for example, that many rainbow bee-eater nests were just run over by the machines [clearing bushland]. We saw tawny frogmouths and owls fleeing trees as they were toppled.³¹

2.30 The department has undertaken to provide the committee with further details of the survey of bird nesting sites carried out on 14 December 2016.³²

Rates of wildlife mortality

2.31 Mr Dean Huxley, Manager, Native ARC Inc., outlined a number of concerns with the number of native animals left in the construction zone, many of which were injured or killed:

In my capacity at Native ARC, I am overseeing the care of the wildlife that are admitted to the centre, and, to date, we have received photographs of injured and/or deceased wildlife from the public...We have received injured or deceased animals found by the public adjacent to and on the fence line of the Roe 8 clearing. We have received written and verbal information from the public detailing displaced wildlife sightings in many suburbs surrounding the Roe 8 clearing site. We have received only one injured quenda, which was admitted via the Murdoch Pet Emergency Centre, which came via a Roe 8 contractor.

We understand that the animals targeted for capture and relocation are quendas, jewelled ctenotus, lined skink, black-striped snake and the southwest carpet python. Our concern is for all wildlife within the clearing zone and the outcomes of those animals not captured or relocated. We suspect there is a large number. These include, but are not limited to, obviously, possums, lizards, snakes, frogs, turtles and internationally protected rainbow bee-eaters. 33

³⁰ Mrs Monica Collins, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 29.

³¹ Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 11.

³² See evidence given by Mr Dean Knudson, Deputy Secretary, and Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, Environment and Communications Legislation Committee, *Proof Estimates Committee Hansard*, 27 February 2017, pp. 96–97.

³³ Mr Dean Huxley, Native ARC Inc *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 37.

2.32 Ms Diane Munrowd, Manager, Native ARC Inc., questioned what protocols were followed on the construction site for the care of injured animals:

We need to understand what the compliance is with the treatment and rehabilitation of animals that are actually injured as part of this clearing, and we have no idea about that at all. There are protocols for treatment, there are protocols for rehabilitation and there are none available. I have no idea where those animals go. I understand the ones that are not injured are put in a holding site and then they will go to the offset areas. But you cannot expect that there will be no animal that is injured in this process. So if they do not get killed on the site, where are those animals taken? What are the protocols? Because there are protocols that are required in terms of their treatment and rehabilitation.³⁴

Other concerns

2.33 A range of other concerns were raised by submitters including non-adherence to dieback protocols by contractors, the lack of protection for Banksia woodlands that were being cleared, the inadequate flora surveys undertaken before environmental approval was granted for Roe 8, and flaws in the environmental offsets for the project.

Banksia woodlands

- 2.34 The committee understands that the Beeliar Wetlands contain some Banksia woodlands that the construction work will destroy. Dr Bairstow outlined the importance of Banksia habitats to a range of native species, noting that their destruction would impact a range of plant and animal species.³⁵
- 2.35 The committee understands that the Roe 8 works are clearing a large area of Banksia woodlands, which is listed as threatened species that is protected under the EBPC Act. Moreover, the committee is aware that this woodland is vulnerable to diseases including dieback, which is discussed below.
- 2.36 Officers from the Commonwealth Department of the Environment and Energy explained that, as that Banksia woodlands scheduled for clearance for Roe 8 were listed as endangered on 16 September 2016, and so had not been considered as part of the environmental assessment for the project. ³⁶ The committee was told that this:

...is a common thing that does happen. The list of species that is being protected and assessed over time is always evolving, and so are projects being referred to us. It is not uncommon to have a referral decision and then subsequently, not due to any malfeasance or anything like that, the listing levels for different species change over time as the scientific assessment develops.³⁷

36 Mrs Monica Collins, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 23.

³⁴ Ms Diane Munrowd, Native ARC Inc, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 40.

³⁵ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

³⁷ Mr Dean Knudson, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 24.

- 2.37 The department made it clear that it was only able to consider currently listed species when making decisions, and could not retrospectively amend decisions on projects:
 - ...the relevant legislative provisions in the act are set out in section 158A, which makes it quite clear that we are only able to make decisions about matters that are the subject of a listing at the time the referral is made. We are not able to factor in matters that are listed subsequent to that date.³⁸
- 2.38 The committee notes the independent review of the EPBC Act undertaken by Dr Allan Hawke (the Hawke Review) which was completed in 2009 recommended amendments to the Act to provide for emergency listings. In 2011, the Commonwealth government committed to implement those recommendations, but did not bring a reform package to the Parliament.
- 2.39 In 2011, the Parliament considered a private members bill, the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Amendment (Emergency Listings) Bill 2011 which would have implemented those elements of the Hawke Review, and would have addressed the effect of section 158A. Section 158A of the EPBC Act prevents consideration of threatened species or ecological communities which are listed after the time a referral is made. This bill lapsed at the prorogation of the 43rd Parliament.

Flora management

2.40 Dr Bairstow pointed out the difficulty of undertaking surveys of the area's flora, when some species only flowered sporadically:

The thing with a lot of those species, especially the orchids, is that they are very sporadic when they are coming out. One of the issues we have had with this project is that the flora studies were done at inappropriate times and not sufficiently well, and so it is not surprising that they may not have found some of those orchids.³⁹

Offsets of land cleared for Roe 8

2.41 The committee understands that some of the Beeliar Wetlands cleared for the construction of Roe 8 will be offset with new or existing bushland. Professor Hobbs, the Beeliar Group, outlined the shortcomings of offset provisions for the Freight Link:

The problem is that the implementation of the offsets policies is complete rubbish. There is just no actual method for making sure that the offsets that are set are actually having any good impact at all, especially in the case of this Roe 8 offset, where we are allowing nearly 100 hectares of bushland to be destroyed completely and the offset is a simple designation change on existing bushland. There is no net gain in habitat, and so therefore it is a bit of a furphy, if you ask me. The offset does include other management activities to improve habitat around the Beeliar area, but you have to

³⁸ Mr Simon Writer, General Counsel, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 24.

³⁹ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

question how the decision was made that these offsets were actually going to compensate for the loss of the woodland. 40

2.42 Dr Bairstow was of a similar view and stated that:

The concept of offsets in general has developed into a system of nothing much better than smoke and mirrors. We are not creating new habitat. We are destroying habitat and trying to convince people that somehow by putting an area into a conservation reserve it becomes new habitat.⁴¹

2.43 Dr Bairstow went on to comment that many animal species such as the bandicoot are territorial and are not necessarily going to move to the offset area. Problems with cockatoos are emerging:

Every day we have reports of people with flocks of cockatoos in their backyards that are hungry. They are looking for food and they are looking for somewhere to roost. It is quite tragic. That offset, which is in Lake Clifton, is not going to provide any food or roosting habitat for those cockatoos. 42

2.44 Professor Hobbs also noted how long it takes for offset planting to provide environmental benefits:

The problem is that if you are destroying a banksia woodland with trees in it that are 300 or 400 years old [as in the Beeliar Wetlands], obviously it is going to take you 300 or 400 years to get back to that habitat. If it is replacing Carnaby's cockatoo habitat it is going to take the banksia trees 10, 20, 30 years to recover their ability to produce food for the cockatoos and so on. So there is a big lag between when the damage is done and when the reparation is made. 43

2.45 A further matter raised by Professor John Bailey, The Beeliar Group, related to the double counting of offset areas. He stated:

...I would like to draw your attention to the other offsets...A number of those in my view are actually double counted. They are commitments to do things that were already made, independently of Roe 8, and have just been listed again under Roe 8 offset requirements. One example is improved management of Thomsons Lake. The offset conditions there are drawn directly from the Thomsons Lake management plan that was prepared many years ago. So I think we have to be very careful in recognising what offset requirements are truly new and what are just the rebadging and double counting of existing commitments.⁴⁴

42 Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 39.

⁴⁰ Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 43.

Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 39.

Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 44.

⁴⁴ Professor John Bailey, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 44.

Implementation of the Construction Environmental Management Plan

2.46 Some witnesses raised concerns about the way contractors managed dieback protocols, asbestos waste, dust produced onsite by clearance work, and the handling of other potential contaminants.

Dieback protocols

2.47 The committee received evidence that the CEMP's dieback protocols had not been followed by some contractors working on the site.⁴⁵ Miss Corke, Wetlands Watchers, outlined some examples to the committee:

We have seen workers, utes, police cars and horses, a cherry-picker, a water truck and a bulldozer drive between uninterpretable and unaffected sections of the site without any form of hygiene or wash down procedures, in contravention of dieback protocols in table 10 of the CEMP. 46

2.48 Dr Bairstow, appearing in a private capacity, described what dieback is, before outlining a number of potential violations of the project's dieback protocols:

Dieback is a fungal infection of certain species of vegetation and, once introduced to an area, it cannot be eradicated. There are standard protocols to be followed, and they have not been followed in this case. In particular, repeated movements of vehicles from uninterpretable dieback areas to uninfested dieback areas of native vegetation have been observed. On two separate days, I made reports directly to the [WA Office of the Environmental Protection Authority] regarding the lapse in protocols. On the second day, I rang back after several hours to find out what was happening. I was told that the auditors had reported back and there was no clearing taking place, to which I replied, 'I am watching a live stream of a video of clearing taking place across the road right now.' I was told, 'We will send him back in.'⁴⁷

2.49 Dr Bairstow suggested current conditions were ideal for dieback spreading, so a great deal more caution should be exercised by contractors:

This particular period has created a very, very favourable situation where we are still in summer, we have warm soil, the fungus is flourishing and we have summer rain. That could lead to a catastrophic transfer of dieback. If we were ever, anywhere, going to be careful about something like dieback protocol—and I am not saying that all the other bits of bush do not deserve to be looked after too, but if we cannot do it here, where can we do it?⁴⁸

Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p.3; Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn; *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p.15, Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38. The dieback protocols for the Roe 8 works are contained in the CEMP. See *Construction Environmental Management Plan*, pp. 11–15.

⁴⁶ Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 3.

⁴⁷ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

⁴⁸ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

2.50 Dr Bairstow also noted that dieback in some areas of vegetation could have serious repercussions for many species of local fauna:

The thing about the banksia woodlands and the wetlands through that area is that they are incredibly complex, integrated systems. So, when you start killing off a whole suite of plants, you are going to have a knock-on effect on many other plant and animal species.⁴⁹

Management of asbestos waste

2.51 Some witnesses and submitters were concerned that asbestos found in the clearance process had been handled poorly.⁵⁰ For example, Mr Bob Bryant, a retired technical specialist in occupational health and safety and a safety coach who was appearing in a private capacity, spoke of the flagrant disregard some contractors had for WorkSafe standards, including regarding:

...[the disposal of] asbestos; it is the emissions of dust, the control, the clean-up. For example, people have been observed picking up pieces of asbestos, breaking pieces of asbestos, and carrying them and putting them in the back of vehicles...[namely, the] contractors, supposedly the asbestos removal specialists. In the early days none of those people were wearing proper personal protective equipment. They subsequently have, in just very recent times, started to wear proper gear, but there is even evidence of noncompliance with that.⁵¹

- 2.52 Mr Bryant provided the committee with the results of laboratory testing of asbestos he had found on 'a random walk through some of the areas' on the construction site. ⁵² This confirmed 42 samples of asbestos were found, including the most dangerous type, blue asbestos. ⁵³
- 2.53 Ms Alison Wright, Coordinator, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, pointed to the uncertainty that poor asbestos handling practices created for local residents:

We have witnessed bulldozers tearing through the bush and then uncovering dumped asbestos materials. We are left wondering whether there was any missed asbestos left in the giant piles of mulch. We have requested and requested support from government agencies and we are still left wondering. We have voluntarily conducted asbestos surveys, tested these samples and found that 85 per cent of the samples were asbestos. From our cursory survey conducted by citizens, we have identified more

⁴⁹ Dr Felicity Bairstow, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 38.

Mr Bob Bryant, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 7; Ms Alison Wright, Coordinator, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 8; Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor of the City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, pp. 14–15.

⁵¹ Mr Bob Bryant, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 7.

⁵² Mr Bob Bryant, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 9.

⁵³ Mr Bob Bryant, *Additional Information*, Asbestos Laboratory testing results, p. 59.

than 100 pieces throughout the Roe 8 site, and yet the clearing has continued. 54

2.54 Ms Wright told the committee that the Western Australian government had undertaken tests for asbestos on the site, after concerns had been raised repeatedly by local residents over a long period:

I can tell you that we put a suspected contaminated site form into the Department of Environment Regulation on 16 December. I received some correspondence back from them just before early January saying, 'Thank you very much, but we can't see any reason to continue looking into that'. Yet, surprisingly, in early January I got another letter from the Department of Environment Regulation that said, 'Actually, we are looking into this'. I made a phone call to them and they have since examined the site and found that it is not contaminated.

Meanwhile, that is 52 days that people in Coolbellup had this sense of fear and anxiety about whether there is airborne asbestos.⁵⁵

2.55 Ms Wright expressed some doubts whether sufficient testing of the site had been undertaken, given the results of other surveys:

Despite the report back from the Department of Environment Regulation, I am sorry but I do not have confidence that they have been able to go through piles and piles of mulch that are really high and can tell me unequivocally that there is no asbestos in there. We found 100 pieces of asbestos throughout the entire site on a cursory survey. ⁵⁶

2.56 Ms Wright also highlighted the anguish that had been caused to local residents, given the long uncertainty over asbestos contamination of the site:

It is quite extraordinary to see a group of people, who are entirely sensible people, so commonly brought to tears. In these meetings that I am convening, there are people who are often on the brink of tears because of the level of anxiety. I think that is mainly due to the fear and worry about what is going on across the road...⁵⁷

Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*,23 February 2017, p. 8.

Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 2.

Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 8.

⁵⁷ Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 8.

Dust management

2.57 The committee heard that many local residents and communities had been affected by the dust emanating from the clearance work undertaken by contractors.⁵⁸ Ms Corke, Wetlands Watchers, told the committee it was clear that good dust management practices, as outlined by the CERP,⁵⁹ were not being followed onsite, given surrounding homes and pools had been covered with 'films of dust':

The first, most obvious signs of noncompliance were with dust management. According to table 6 of the CEMP, water carts are to be operational at all times in dry and windy conditions. Throughout the clearing, if a cart has actually been on site, it has rarely been used and never effectively. ⁶⁰

2.58 Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor of the City of Cockburn, noted the city had investigated around 50 complaints of ill-health from excessive dust pollution:

We have accounts of families, children and seniors being ill because of the dust impacts. There was one statement by a ratepayer who had been to their doctor saying that the result of their aggravation or their asthma was from the dust emanating from the clearing. ⁶¹

2.59 Mr Howlett went on to stated that the city had raised a formal complaint with relevant state agencies:

On Tuesday, 17 January and Friday, 20 January 2017, in response to complaints from residents, city officers witnessed dust from mulching operations considered to be unreasonable, and under normal circumstances the city would issue instructions to a contractor to cease operating immediately. There was no evidence of any water trucks or any wetted sand in the cleared areas. The officers experienced dust settling on them and irritating their eyes. A request was sent to the Roe 8 project environmental manager about intentions to improve dust control without delay. The city contacted Main Roads WA, the OEPA and the DER about the unreasonable dust emissions from the works at the Roe 8 extension and requested that they investigate and take appropriate action without delay.

See Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, Committee Hansard,

60 Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 2.

58

²³ February 2017, p. 2; Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 6; Mr Andrew Joske, Wetland Watchers; *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 6; Mr Bob Bryant, *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 7;

Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 16; Ms Denise Crosbie, Cockburn Wetlands Education Centre Inc., *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 37.

⁵⁹ Construction Environmental Management Plan, pp. 10–11.

Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 14 and p.16.

⁶² Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 14.

2.60 Mr Howlett also commented that this had led to the city undertaking its own sampling and analysis of dust samples from the vicinity of the Roe 8 works. Asbestos fibres had not been detected and he suggested that the results of similar analyses undertaken by contractors should be made public to reduce community concerns:

The results from an independent laboratory indicated that no asbestos fibres were detected in any of dust samples. While the city believes that these results give the community confidence that asbestos associated with the Roe 8 clearing works does not represent a public health risk, it is also aware that the contractor carried out dust monitoring. The city has formally requested a report, but the contractor is yet to provide the information. They have advised that asbestos fibres have not been detected in the dust samples collected. If that is so then the formal laboratory test results should be released to the public. ⁶³

2.61 Ms Wright added that, as well as poor health outcomes for some locals, there was still lingering uncertainty over whether the dust also contained asbestos fibres:

But on top of [immediate impacts on health] there is the great unknown: are there asbestos fibres in the dust? It is very clear that the dust is there, because it is layering over people's houses. In fact, we were so worried about the dust that we as a group of residents conducted asbestos sampling off our own bat, because we just were not getting the evidence back.⁶⁴

Other contaminants

2.62 The committee was made aware that contractors were potentially treating other contaminants in a manner that was non-compliant with CEMP conditions. For example, Ms Corke told the committee that she had witnessed a barrel of 'unidentified contents' ruptured by a bulldozer, with its contents subsequently left to leak onto the ground. She argued that that clearing work had gone on around the leakage, which was in breach of CEMP conditions, which stipulate that all work should stop until any contaminant is contained, identified, and cleared safely.⁶⁵

Flaws with Management Plans for the project

2.63 The committee received evidence that argued the management plans for the Roe 8 implementation were badly written and difficult to understand. As a consequence, it was difficult for contractors to adhere to environmental and construction conditions. For example, Ms Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, stated that:

In the beginning, the opinions of scientists and fauna experts whom we worked with to understand the stated protocols versus industry best practice, as laid out in the environmental management plans, told us that

⁶³ Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 15.

Ms Alison Wright, Coolbellup Concerned Residents, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 8.

Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 3. Also see *Construction Environmental Management Plan*, p. 19.

their plans showed a lack of skill and expert advice in their construction. We believed that it may have been speed and a lack of skills in the authorship of those plans which were driving the noncompliance at that early stage. ⁶⁶

2.64 Professor Hobbs also suggested that the plans showed signs of being completed in a rush. Additionally, he noted they have not been subjected to any independent review. These factors, he said, would make implementation very difficult for contractors:

The first problem was when the plan was completed, which was a few days after initial work started on the project and a few days before the initial clearing started. There was no opportunity for any outside review of this plan at all. The plan was viewed by people from the Department of Parks and Wildlife a year earlier, and presumably it was adjusted in relation to those discussions...It is all to do with the speed of the process, really. It is the rush of trying to get this happening that makes the implementation of the plan very difficult.⁶⁷

2.65 Ms Kelly also commented that the plans were only published a few weeks before the clearing work began on 18 December 2016, which may not give contractors sufficient time to engage with them. ⁶⁸

Responses of the state and Commonwealth to potential breaches

2.66 The committee took evidence from several witnesses that suggested the Commonwealth and state governments had not been willing to acknowledge concerns about potential breaches adequately. For example, Ms Corke suggested that she had reported potential breaches to relevant authorities on a daily basis, and had not received a reply from the Commonwealth, and a single cursory letter from the EPA:

Every day we watch, and nearly every day I send an email to both the EPA and to the federal Minister for the Environment and Energy, who claimed on 15 February that neither he nor his department has received any reports of breaches on site. These emails contain photos that outline the breaches we have just observed and that try to prevent further breaches occurring. There have been 20 emails so far and about 50 breaches reported. To date, there has been one response from the EPA less than two pages long—one eight-paragraph letter—responding to around 125 pages of emails. 69

Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 2. Note: the *Construction Environmental Management Plan* is dated the 29 November 2016 in the footer of the document; the *Fauna Environmental Management Plan* is dated 13 December 2016 in a similar location.

⁶⁷ Professor Richard Hobbs, The Beeliar Group, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 46.

Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 12. Note: the *Construction Environmental Management Plan* is dated the 29 November 2016 in the footer of the document; the *Fauna Environmental Management Plan* is dated 13 December 2016 in a similar location.

⁶⁹ Miss Phoebe Corke, Wetland Watchers, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 2.

2.67 Ms Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, shared her experience with the committee:

On 20 December, the second day of clearing, we sent our first letter to Mr Kim Taylor from the EPA and other agency heads calling for Roe 8 to be halted whilst the issues with noncompliance were investigated. That letter was 22 pages long...We have still not received a letter in reply from the EPA, although later we did receive a letter from Minister Frydenberg which names the EPA as the only agency responsible for compliance issues.⁷⁰

2.68 Mr Howlett, Mayor of the City of Cockburn, noted the angst among the community that was caused when government agencies did not engage with people who had raised concerns about potential breaches:

Numerous emails copied to myself have clearly indicated to the state government departments responsible that they need to step in and take action. My understanding is that many of those emails have been not responded to, which, again, is a sad indictment of what is happening around this project...

When there is silence from the other end, you start to wonder...Those things are very powerful in terms of the perception in the community about a project and that the government and the relevant departments and/or the contractor seem to have little value for it in providing information back.⁷¹

2.69 The department provided the committee with evidence on the complaints it had received and stated that committee that it had received a 'large volume of correspondence' relating to potential breaches of the Roe 8 works. Given this, the department outlined several actions it had adopted to assess the validity of these claims:

We had officers on site on 16 January and again on 7 February this year. We have also spoken to Main Roads and asked them to provide information. We have also spoken with the EPA and asked them to provide information. We have also followed up on the qualifications where experts were required to do things. ⁷²

2.70 In relation to compliance with Condition 4—the survey of trees during the breeding season—the department stated that it had satisfied itself that the condition had been complied with. It was also noted that those undertaking the tree survey had extensive experience in survey work. Ms Collins concluded 'what we found was that

Mr Logan Howlett, Mayor, City of Cockburn, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 17.

Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 5.

⁷² Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 25; see also Environment and Communications Legislation Committee, *Estimates Proof Committee Hansard*, 27 February 2017, p. 103.

any potential nesting trees, even though they had been ruled out as suitable, were retained on the site'. 73

2.71 The department stated they had found no breaches of the conditions for the project's approval, apart from one area:

There is one area where there was a minor noncompliance in relation to reports being provided to the department later than the expected time, and the department did issue a warning letter to Main Roads in relation to that late supply of report. Other than that, we have looked into the allegations that have been made and we have not found evidence to demonstrate that matters protected under the EPBC Act or under this approval have been breached.⁷⁴

2.72 On this matter, Mr Matt Cahill added that some issues were still being investigated by the department:

We do still have allegations that have been put forward, and so while we have made some conclusions with regard to the material to date, we still have other material in front of us that we are still considering.⁷⁵

2.73 At the Environment and Communications Legislation Committee estimates hearing on 27 February 2017, the department indicated that the investigation report, which addresses all of the relevant conditions, was being finalised.⁷⁶

Timing of commencement of construction

- 2.74 A number of witnesses questioned the timing of the commencement of construction. With the state election scheduled for 11 March 2017, witnesses argued that construction should have been delayed until after that date.⁷⁷ The commencement of construction was seen as a rushed move to ensure that as much land as possible was cleared so that 'it cannot be undone'.⁷⁸
- 2.75 Ms Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, also commented:

Given the proximity to the state election where a change of government will shelve this project, many in the community strongly question the need for bulldozing such an important spiritual, ecological and community place of

Environment and Communications Legislation Committee, Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, *Estimates Proof Committee Hansard*, 27 February 2017, p. 95.

Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 25; see also p. 26.

⁷⁵ Mr Matt Cahill, First Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 25.

Environment and Communications Legislation Committee, Mr Matt Cahill, First Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Estimates Proof Committee Hansard*, 27 February 2017, p. 103.

⁷⁷ Mrs Kim Dravnieks, Rethink the Link, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 3.

⁷⁸ Dr Bradley Pettitt, Mayor, City of Fremantle, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 16.

great beauty with such an unnecessary amount of haste and proper oversight. 79

Committee view

- 2.76 This inquiry has heard incontrovertible evidence that the Roe 8 works have breached the Environment Management Plans repeatedly and in serious ways. These breaches have profound consequences, not only for the health of the natural environment of the Beeliar Wetlands and its flora and fauna, but also for the health of the communities that live near the Roe 8 works.
- 2.77 The RRAT committee inquiry last year showed that the Perth Freight Link was poorly conceived and badly designed. It compellingly made the case that the project would blow a once-in-a-generation opportunity to get infrastructure in Western Australia right, squandering around \$1.2 billion of Commonwealth funds at a time when the national budget is under increasing pressure. It also indicated the project would have disastrous environmental implications, and that it was characterised by poor consultation by the Commonwealth and state governments, and an unwillingness to communicate with communities that would be affected the most.
- 2.78 It is clear the implementation of Roe 8 has confirmed these findings. In particular, the committee considers that the Roe 8 works have followed a disastrous trajectory, and have been rushed and shoddily implemented by the Barnett administration before the shutdown period preceding the state election on 11 March 2017.

A disastrous environmental legacy

- 2.79 The work on Roe 8 has had disastrous environmental effects, not only from its destruction of part of the Beeliar Wetlands, one of Western Australia's most significant natural assets, but also from potential breaches of its CEMP by contractors.
- 2.80 The committee was concerned that the conditions to manage native fauna on the site seem to have been breached many times by contractors. Trapping plans for bandicoots and other species appear to have been badly designed and implemented, which has resulted in the needless trauma of animals being removed for relocation, and the deaths of many others.
- 2.81 It also appears that surveys of birdlife habitats in the Roe 8 area have been undertaken in a cursory way. This could put several species at further risk, particularly the endangered Carnaby's and red-tailed black cockatoos. The committee will look forward to receiving further information on these surveys from the department, especially regarding their compliance with section 4 of the environmental approvals for the project.
- 2.82 Additionally, the Roe 8 works have already cleared a great deal of the unique and protected Banksia woodland of the Beeliar Wetlands; this woodland is also threatened by contractors not following dieback protocols. The committee notes that

⁷⁹ Ms Katherine Kelly, Save Beeliar Wetlands, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 5.

this woodland was listed as endangered on 16 September 2016, but can be cleared, as its listing occurred after the referral of the project.

- 2.83 The committee believes that the Environment Management Plans show signs of having been produced quickly, with insufficient independent oversight or monitoring of their contents before their release by Main Roads WA. As a consequence, contractors have had insufficient time to engage with, understand, and to work to meet the environmental standards they are legally bound to adhere to under the Plans.
- 2.84 The hurried implementation of Roe 8, the lack of appropriate oversight of contractors by the Commonwealth and state governments, as well as the poor drafting of the Environment Management Plans, has meant that an invaluable part of the natural heritage of Western Australia—and, indeed, our nation—has been destroyed for the initial stages of a project that is fundamentally flawed and should be scrapped.

Poor health outcomes for local communities

- 2.85 The hurried implementation of the Roe 8 works has also meant that many communities who live near the Roe 8 works have had real and potential health impacts caused by non-compliance with dust and asbestos management plans.
- 2.86 It is evident that the site contains a great deal of hazardous asbestos, and that local communities have been able to collect and identify dangerous material from mulch produced in the clearance process.
- 2.87 Moreover, the committee is concerned about poor health outcomes that can be caused by poor dust management practices, even if the tests that have been done on dust from the site have not contained asbestos fibre. It seems that a number of locals have had health complications caused by the dust, including those with asthmatic or sensitive respiratory conditions. Dust also impacted a school with 250 children, just 100 metres from the construction site.
- 2.88 It is apparent that communities have commissioned their own asbestos testing, given that contractors and the state governments have shown unwilling to release the results of their own analyses. The committee considers that the results of tests undertaken by government agencies and contractors should be made public, so as to reassure local communities.

Conclusion

- 2.89 The evidence the committee received overwhelmingly showed that, since the Roe 8 works commenced only a few months ago, there have been a number of potential breaches of the legally binding conditions contained in the project's Management Plans approved by the state government. Moreover, the committee has heard serious allegations about violations of conditions attached to the environmental approvals granted by the Commonwealth for the Roe 8 project, in particular Condition 4 related the survey of black cockatoo nesting trees.
- 2.90 The committee notes that the Western Australian government's project approval assessment was carried out under the bilateral assessment arrangements. The department stated that the Western Australian government has been 'accredited to

meet our environmental requirements under the EPBC Act'. While the Western Australian government has made a number of recommendations related to state matters these are also subject to Commonwealth scrutiny. The department commented:

What we do then is look at those recommendations. We reference and assess those against our requirements in making an approval or not. What we will do is try to reduce duplication. Where there are management plans that are covered already by the state, we will try to reflect that in our approval.⁸⁰

- 2.91 The committee acknowledges that the Commonwealth's regulatory role is confined to the extent to which the management plans relate to matters of national environmental significance. However, the Carnaby's black cockatoo is listed by the Commonwealth as a threatened species while the Red-tailed black cockatoo is listed as vulnerable. The committee considers that the failure to undertake adequate surveys of nesting tree raise significant concerns about whether condition 4 has been satisfied.
- 2.92 The committee therefore considers that the Commonwealth should act to suspend approval for the project. The Commonwealth Minister for the Environment has the power, under subsection 144(2A) of the EPBC Act, to undertake this action and should do so immediately.⁸¹

Recommendation 1

2.93 The committee recommends that, pursuant to subsection 144(2A) of the *Environment Protection And Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999*, the Minister for the Environment suspends the Roe 8 construction works until he has ascertained that all the conditions of the approval issued for the Roe 8 works have been met by the Western Australian government and by relevant contractors.

Recommendation 2

2.94 The committee recommends that—whatever the outcome of the Western Australian state election taking place on 11 March 2017—the Commonwealth works with the state government and other stakeholders to develop productive and economically viable infrastructure projects in Western Australia that incorporate rigorous environmental assessments and conditions.

Recommendation 3

2.95 The committee recommends that the Commonwealth government act urgently to amend the EPBC Act to provide for emergency listings of threatened species and ecological communities, and to consider addressing the effect of section 158A of the EPBC Act which currently prevents consideration of threatened species or ecological communities which are listed after the time a referral is made.

Mr Bruce Edwards, Assistant Secretary, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 24.

⁸¹ Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999, s.144(2A).

Recommendation 4

2.96 The committee recommends that the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) conduct an audit of the Perth Freight Link project including in relation to:

- whether appropriate steps were taken to protect the Commonwealth's interests and obtain value for money in respect to the \$1.2 billion in Commonwealth funding committed to the Western Australian government for the Perth Freight Link project;
- the effectiveness of federal environmental protection laws, in particular the extent to which the Department of the Environment and Energy:
 - complied with its own policies (specifically including Offsets policy and protection of species with Recovery Plans),
 - adequately assessed impacts on matters of national significance during the assessment process,
 - adequately investigated and enforced compliance with approval conditions,
 - adequately responded to evidence significant and systematic breaches with management plans were being ignored by the state government;
- the adequacy of penalties to the approval holder for non-compliance under federal environmental protection laws; and
- political interference with the environmental assessment and compliance process.

Senator Peter Whish-Wilson

Chair

Government senators – dissenting report

- 1.1 Government senators consider that this inquiry has been motivated by political considerations. Requiring the committee to undertake an inquiry in two weeks, including a hearing in Perth, just before the Western Australian state election makes the agenda being pursued abundantly clear. It is part of the long and continuing campaign to halt a major project that will provide better infrastructure for the people of Western Australia.
- 1.2 Government senators note that the majority report lacks any regard for the real and sustained economic benefits of this project. It ignores the fact that the Coalition government is committed to investing \$1.2 billion in the Perth Freight Link. No government would have committed this level of funding if the project was not of major significance and without a strong economic case supporting the project.
- 1.3 The majority report ignores that rigorous approval processes undertaken by both the Western Australian government and the Commonwealth and the stringent conditions put in place to ensure the protection of the environment. It also ignores the ongoing inspection and audit program of construction activities.

Economic benefits

- 1.4 This is a project that will deliver world-class infrastructure to Western Australia, lifting the productivity of the state's industry and transport sectors, and ensuring Perth's road system is safer and less congested as the city grows over the coming decades.
- 1.5 The Freight Link is critical for the future prosperity of Western Australia and the Australian economy more generally. The Business Case for the Freight Link clearly shows that the project will deliver economic dividends with a base benefit-cost ratio (BCR) of 2.8. This will come primarily from 'a 9 ½ minute travel time saving and a \$8.15 saving per trip for freight vehicles (Kwinana Freeway to Fremantle)'. This will accumulate to deliver a total saving of around \$2.5 billion for travel time savings alone.²
- 1.6 This means trucks and private vehicles will suffer fewer delays from dangerous stop-start traffic flows, saving time and money not only for large businesses freighting products to and from Fremantle Port, but also reducing transport

¹ Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary (December 2014), p. 3.

² See Table 3: Benefit Cost Analysis Results, *Perth Freight Link: Business Case Executive Summary* (December 2014), p. 29.

operating costs for many small local businesses, and commuters on their way to work.³

- 1.7 Infrastructure Australia has recognised the central importance of the Freight Link to Australia's infrastructure network. In its Priority List, it was cited it as one of the most crucial pieces of investment currently being undertaken to fix our 'National Connectivity' problem.⁴
- 1.8 Moreover, the committee received evidence that the project has already started delivering economic benefits to Western Australia, by creating many of the 10,000 direct and indirect jobs for Western Australian workers that the Freight Link is expected to deliver.⁵
- 1.9 At a time when the national economy is in transition, with the winding down of the mining construction boom, it is essential that the Commonwealth and state governments collaborate to invest in projects that will bring real economic benefits in the coming decades.⁶
- 1.10 To stop Roe 8 now is to put Western Australia's future prosperity in jeopardy for the sake of political expediency.

Benefits for road users and local communities

- 1.11 The Freight Link will also alleviate congestion in Perth's clogged transport system, making it safer and more useable for road users, and reducing pollution for local communities.
- 1.12 The Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development states that the project is forecast to:
 - ...reduce freight traffic and congestion on local arterial roads, resulting in improved safety, reduced noise and enhanced amenity, with 500 trucks per day removed from sections of the Leach Highway by 2031.⁷
- 1.13 The project will remove 14 sets of traffic lights, which Main Roads WA state will make Perth roads safer by '[reducing] free flowing vehicle movement with shorter journey times, cutting congestion and the current patterns of 'stop-start' traffic'.⁸

³ See Main Roads Western Australia, 'Perth Freight Link' at www.mainroads.wa.gov.au/BuildingRoads/Projects/UrbanProjects/Pages/Perth-FreightLink.aspx (accessed 3 March 2017).

⁴ Infrastructure Australia, National Priority List (25 February 2017), p. 2.

⁵ Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission 6*, p. 2.

⁶ Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia, *Submission* 6, p. 2.

Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, 'Perth Freight Link' at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WAPKG (accessed 3 March 2017).

⁸ See Main Roads Western Australia, 'Perth Freight Link' at www.mainroads.wa.gov.au/BuildingRoads/Projects/UrbanProjects/Pages/Perth-FreightLink.aspx (accessed 3 March 2017).

Smaller volumes of traffic on local roads, will mean less exhaust emissions, and reduction of air and noise pollution for local communities.⁹

- 1.14 There are also a number of ways that the Perth road system will become more user-friendly once the Freight Link has been built, including more effective southern access to the Murdoch Activity Centre, improving local traffic flows as the Fiona Stanley Hospital progressively opens. 10
- 1.15 By removing trucks from arterial roads and clearing arterial congestion, the Freight Link will also improve the real estate values for many homes along the route. This will contribute to a general lift across the area, including an estimated lift to property prices of between 17 and 25 per cent more than other areas of Perth over the coming decade. 11
- 1.16 This inquiry has falsely implied that Western Australians do not want the Roe 8 highway to proceed, where there is, in fact, a groundswell of support for the extension of the Roe Highway. This was shown the recent poll undertaken by *Perth Now* and the *Sunday Times*, of over 9,000 people. This found 59.8 per cent of Western Australians support the extension of the Roe Highway across the Beeliar Wetlands, as well as further work to extend this road to Fremantle Port, with only 10 per cent saying it was 'a waste of money'. ¹²

The environmental approvals process

- 1.17 The Perth Freight Link project has been through an extensive approvals process that has involved scrutiny under the terms of the Commonwealth's *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth) (EPBC Act), as well as review by the Western Australian Environmental Protection Authority. ¹³
- 1.18 Through this process, the project must satisfy a number of conditions to ensure the best possibly environmental outcomes are achieved. This includes a number of conditions attached to the approval to mitigate the effects of construction

Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development, 'Perth Freight Link' at http://investment.infrastructure.gov.au/projects/ProjectDetails.aspx?Project_id=052776-14WAPKG (accessed 3 March 2017).

⁹ See Main Roads Western Australia, 'Perth Freight Link' at www.mainroads.wa.gov.au/BuildingRoads/Projects/UrbanProjects/Pages/Perth-FreightLink.aspx (accessed 3 March 2017).

Report commissioned by Main Roads WA, *Perth Freight Link: Potential Urban Outcomes: Section Two Road Options*,

Joe Spagnolo and Kate Camplell, 'WA Speaks: Perth Freight Link, tolls have voter support', *Perth Now*, at www.perthnow.com.au/news/western-australia/wa-speaks-perth-freight-link-tolls-have-voter-support/news-story/706d07bec798d492b427a8ff43eb6c05 (accessed 3 March 2017).

¹³ See Department of the Environment, *Approval, Roe Highway Extension*, EPBC 2009/5031 and *Report and recommendations of the Environmental Protection Authority: Roe Highway Extension* (September 2013).

on the Roe 8 site, as well as offsets to ensure to reduce the impact on the environment more generally. 14

- 1.19 Throughout this inquiry a number of concerns have been raised that these conditions have not been met by contractors, and that potential breaches have not been investigated rigorously by the responsible Commonwealth and state government agencies.
- 1.20 Given this, Coalition senators would like to note that the department reassured the committee that it had received a 'large volume' of correspondence about potential breaches, and that these had all been suitably investigated. ¹⁵ Regarding these cases, the Department of the Environment and Energy stated that it had engaged in extensive oversight of the Roe 8 site, and had found only one area of non-compliance, which was a 'minor' issue of reports being delivered to the department late:

We had officers on site on 16 January and again on 7 February this year. We have also spoken to Main Roads and asked them to provide information. We have also spoken with the EPA and asked them to provide information. We have also followed up on the qualifications where experts were required to do things...

There is one area where there was a minor noncompliance in relation to reports being provided to the department later than the expected time, and the department did issue a warning letter to Main Roads in relation to that late supply of report. Other than that, we have looked into the allegations that have been made and we have not found evidence to demonstrate that matters protected under the EPBC Act or under this approval have been breached. ¹⁶

1.21 The Department of the Environment and Energy has also committed to follow up other areas of concern for the committee, particularly details of the Cockatoo surveys undertaken in 2016 before clearing work began.¹⁷

Conclusion

1.22 Government members of the committee consider that the Perth Freight Link is an essential foundation for economic prosperity for the state and nation over the coming decades. Work on the first stage is well underway, and delivering jobs and growth for Western Australians.

¹⁴ See Department of the Environment, *Approval, Roe Highway Extension*, EPBC 2009/5031 and *Report and recommendations of the Environmental Protection Authority: Roe Highway Extension* (September 2013).

Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Compliance and Enforcement, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 25.

Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Compliance and Enforcement, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 25.

Mrs Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary, Compliance and Enforcement, Department of the Environment and Energy, *Proof Committee Hansard*, 23 February 2017, p. 29.

- 1.23 In this, this inquiry has been a politically-driven exercise designed by Labor and Greens senators to stand against the future prosperity of Western Australia—as well as our national economy more general.
- 1.24 Therefore, Government senators reject the recommendations made by the majority report.

Senator Linda Reynolds CSC Deputy Chair Senator for Western Australia Senator Jonathon Duniam Senator for Tasmania

Senator Chris Back Senator for Western Australia

Labor senators' additional comments

- 1.1 Labor notes that the Hawke review identified a weakness in the EPBC Act in regard to emergency listings and that the Hawke review recommended amendments to the Act.
- 1.2 Labor recommends that the Government urgently review relevant parts of the EPBC Act to provide for emergency listings of threatened species and ecological communities, and to consider addressing the effect of section 158A of the EPBC Act which currently prevents consideration of threatened species or ecological communities which are listed after the time a referral is made. Referrals, assessments, approvals as well as the listing process can be complex and time consuming. A review of emergency listings of threatened species and ecological communities in the EPBC Act would need to take in to account this complexity and must include consultation to give certainty to communities and stakeholders. Labor supports sensible policy based on solid consultation.

Senator Louise Pratt Senator for Western Australia Senator Sue Lines Deputy President Senator for Western Australia

Appendix 1

Submissions, additional information, tabled documents and answers to questions on notice

Submissions

1	The Beeliar Group: Professors for Environmental Responsibility
2	Professor Phillip Jennings
3	Coolbellup Concerned Residents
4	Dr Hugh Finn
5	Professor Richard Hobbs and Dr Leonie Valentine
6	Chamber of Commerce and Industry of WA, Civil Contractors Association and the WA Road Transport Association

Additional information

Photographs and commentary of work at Roe 8 land clearing project provided by Mr Bob Bryant

Safe Work Australia - Workplace exposure standards for airborne contaminants, date of effect 22 December 2011 provided by Mr Bob Bryant

Group of documents relating to asbestos provided by Mr Bob Bryant

Group of documents relating to diesel provided by Mr Bob Bryant

Letter dated 13 December 2016 to Main Roads Western Australia provided by Ms Kate Kelly

Email dated 16 February 2017 to Main Roads Western Australia, WA Minister for the Environment and WA Environmental Protection Agency provided by Ms Kate Kelly

Letter to Mr Bruce Edwards, Department of the Environment and Energy, dated 11 January 2016 provided by Ms Kate Kelly

Letter to WA Minister for Environment, dated 13 December 2016 provided by Ms Kate Kelly

Letter to the Hon Josh Frydenberg MP, Minister for Environment and Energy provided by Ms Kate Kelly

Correspondence to the WA Environmental Protection Agency provided by Ms Phoebe Corke

Non-Compliance timeline at sites for Perth Freight Link provided by Ms Phoebe Corke

Opening statement provided by Ms Phoebe Corke at public hearing Perth, 23 February 2017

Appendix 2

Public hearings

Thursday, 23 February 2017 – Hobart

Coolbellup Concerned Residents

Ms Alison Wright

Rethink the Link Campaign

Ms Kim Dravnieks, Convenor

Save Beeliar Wetlands

Ms Kate Kelly, Convenor

Wetlands Watchers

Ms Phoebe Corke, Coordinator

Mr Andrew Joske

Mr Bob Bryant - Private Capacity

City of Cockburn

Cr Logan Howlett, Mayor

City of Fremantle

Dr Brad Pettitt, Mayor

Department of the Environment and Energy

Mr Dean Knudson, Deputy Secretary

Mr Matt Cahill, First Assistant Secretary

Ms Monica Collins, Assistant Secretary

Mr Bruce Edwards, Assistant Secretary,

Mr Simon Writer, General Counsel

Mr Alex Taylor, Acting Director

Cockburn Wetlands Education Centre

Ms Denise Crosbie

Native Arc

Mr Bob Dunn

Ms Diane Munrowd

Mr Dean Huxley

Professor John Bailey - Private capacity

Dr Hugh Finn – Private capacity

Professor Richard Hobbs – Private capacity

WA Department of Health

Dr Andrew Robertson, Acting Assistant Director Mr Peter Franklin, Senior Science Policy Officer